IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

D.J. SHUTTLE AND TOURS, NATIONWIDE MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY D/B/A SCOTTSDLE INSURANCE COMPANY; AND JOHN AND JANE DOES #1-10

APPELLANT

VERSES

CAUSE NO. 2010-CA0063

ALVIN FLOWER, SR., CAROLYN FLOWERS, LINDA DILLONS, ALISHA LEGGETT, JOHN RAWLS, ALVIN FLOWERS, JR., DIAMOND WATTS, BEVERLY WATTS, AARON RAWLS AND CICILY TONEY WATTS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judge of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. D.J Shuttle Appellants.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRERRED BY GRANTING FINAL JUDGMENT TO DISMISS CONTRARY TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF UNIFORM CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURT RULE 54(B).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 10, 2006, Alvin Flowers, Sr., et al suffered physical and emotional damages as a result of an automobile accident resulting from the passenger's side front tire separating from the passenger van they were driving. The passenger van was rented from Enterprise Rent-A-Car (hereinafter "Enterprise"). Appellant, D.J. Shuttle and Tours (hereinafter "Defendant D. J.") contracted with Enterprise to perform service and maintenance of vehicles owned by Enterprise.

The passenger van driven by Alvin Flowers, Sr., et al was serviced by D.J. Shuttle prior to the automobile accident in which the front tire separated from the vehicle while traveling at approximately 65 mile per hour on Interstate 59, near Gadsden, Alabama.

That on March 4, 2009, Alvin Flowers, Sr., et al filed their initial Complaint against Enterprise Rent-A-Car and D. J. Shuttle and Tours alleging negligence in servicing of this van by D.J. Shuttle which caused the accident.

Scottsdale Insurance Company issued a General Liability Commercial Policy to D.J.

Shuttle, and the policy was in effect at the time of the accident. In response to the complaint, D.J.

Shuttle and Tours made a request to Scottsdale for legal defense and indemnity pursuant to the Commercial Policy and advised that the van was serviced by his business prior to the accident.

By letter dated May 19, 2009, Scottsdale denied coverage alleged that it owed no obligation to pay damages for the accident under said policy, if defendant D.J. Shuttle was found to be negligent for its services to the van.

On July 1, 2009, Alvin Flowers, Sr., et al filed their Second Amended Complaint. On September 4, 2009, Defendant Scottsdale filed its Motion to Dismiss. On September 10, 2009, Defendant D.J., filed its Answer to Alvin Flowers, Sr., Second Amended Compliant and further brought a cross claim alleging bad faith against Scottsdale for failing to defend D.J. Shuttle and Tours in this action for damages arising during the course of his business. Scottsdale has continued to deny compensability of this claim contrary to the General Liability Insurance Policy.

A hearing in this matter was held on March 26, 2010, before the Honorable Robert Helfrich, Forrest County Circuit Court Judge. The issues at the time of the hearing were (1) whether a commercial policy of insurance was in effect at the time of the accident; (2) if so, did the commercial policy of insurance provide coverage for the accident which occurred in Gadsden, Alabama and (3) did Scottsdale have a duty to defend D.J. Shuttle and Tours in the present claim for damages.

By Order of the circuit judge dated March 26, 2010, Judge Helfrich granted Defendant, Scottsdale Insurance Company's, Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint; granted Defendant, Scottsdale Insurance Company's Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Joinder in Defendant, D.J. Shuttle and Tours; granted Defendant, Scottsdale Insurance Company's Motion to Dismiss Crossclaim of D. J. Shuttle and Tours; Dismissed with prejudice Scottsdale Insurance Company from this lawsuit; and ruled that the style of the lawsuit shall henceforth remove any

reference to "Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company d/b/a Scottsdale Insurance Company" as a named defendant in this matter.

On April 12, 2010, D.J. Shuttle and Tours filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 10, 2006, Alvin Flowers, Sr., et al were passengers in a van they rented from Enterprise Rent-A-Car. They were in an accident in Gadsden, Alabama when the front tire separated from the vehicle. D.J. Shuttle and Tours serviced the van prior to the accident. Scottsdale issued a General Liability Commercial Policy to D.J. Shuttle and Tours, and the policy was in effect at the time of the accident. However, Scottsdale alleges that it owes no obligation under the policy to provide legal defense for D.J. Shuttle and Tours or pay to indemnify him if he is found to have negligently serviced the van, because the accident did not occur on the business premise.

The alleged liability in this action was a result of alleged negligent actions or conduct performed by D.J. Shuttle and Tours on the premises covered under the Commercial Policy issued by Scottsdale. A jury could find a direct link between the alleged negligent service and maintenance performed on the covered premises covered under the policy and subsequent automobile accident that occurred later in Gadsden, Alabama.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court applies a de novo standard of review to a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment. Young v. Meacham, 999 So.2d 368, 371 (Miss. 2008). It examines all the evidentiary matters before it – admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc. The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made.

If, in this view, there is no genuine issue of material fact and, the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law, summary judgment should forthwith be entered in his favor.

Otherwise, the motion should be denied. Issues of fact sufficient to require denial of a motion for summary judgment obviously are present where one party swears to one version of the matter in issue and another says the opposite. In addition, the burden of demonstration that no genuine issue of fact exists is on the moving party. That is, the non-movant should be given the benefit of the doubt. Heigle v. Heigle, 771 So.2d 341, 345 (Miss. 2000) (quoting McCullough v. Cook, 679 So.2d 627, 630 (Miss. 1996).

Where a summary judgment dismisses some of the parties to a lawsuit, but not all of the parties, Rule 54(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure governs." Myatt v. Peco Foods of Miss., Inc., 22 So.3d 334, 336 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (quoting Fairley v. George County, 800 So.2d 1159, 1161 (Miss. 2001).

Rule 54(b) provides an exception to the final-judgment rule. The rule allows the trial court to "direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties"

in an action. M.R.C.P. 54(b). But the trial court may do so "only upon an expressed determination that there is no just reason for delay upon an expressed direction for the entry of judgment." Id. Absent a Rule 54(b) certification, any judgment- regardless of how designated- is not final if it "adjudicates fewer than all of the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties." M.R.C.P. 54(b).

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) is designed to facilitate the entry of judgments upon one or more but fewer than all the claims or as to one or more but fewer than all the parties in an action involving more than one claim or party. It was proposed because of the potential scope and complexity of civil actions under these rules, given their extensive provisions for the liberal joiner of claims and parties. The basic purpose of Rule 54(b) is to avoid the possible injustice of a delay in entering judgment on a distinctly separate claim or as to fewer than all of the parties until the final adjudication of the entire case by making an immediate appeal available.

The rule does not require that a judgment be entered when the court disposes of one or more claims or terminates the action as to one or more parties. Rather, it gives the court discretion to enter a final judgment in these circumstances and it provides much needed certainty in determining when a final and appealable judgment has been entered. If the court chooses to enter such a final order, it must do so in a definite, unmistakable manner. Absent a certification under Rule 54(b), any order in a multiple party or multiple claim action, even if it appears to adjudicate a separable portion of the controversy, is null and void.

If the court decides that an order that does not dispose of all the claims of all the parties and that is not appealable under any other statute or rule should be given the status of a final

judgment, Rule 54(b) requires it to take two separate steps before an appeal can be perfected.

The court must make "an express determination that there is no reason for delay" and it must make "an express direction for the entry of judgment."

When the court is asked to direct the entry of judgment under Rule 54(b), it must consider whether the entire case as a whole and the particular disposition that has been made and for which the entry of a judgment is sought falls within the scope of the rules. The general requirements are that the case includes multiple claims, multiple parties, or both, and that either one or more but fewer than all the claims have been decided, or that all the rights and liabilities of at least one party have been adjudicated.

Rule 54(b) may be invoked only in a relatively select group of cases and applied to an even more limited category of decisions. The rule itself sets forth three basic conditions on its applicability. The first requirement is that either multiple claims for relief or multiple parties be involved. If there are multiple parties, there need only be one claim in the action. All of the rights or liabilities or one or more of the parties regarding that claim must have been fully adjudicated. A decision that leaves a portion of the claim pending as to all defendants does not fall within the ambit of Rule 54(b).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

In the case at bar, D.J. Shuttle and Tours purchased a General Commercial Insurance Policy from Scottsdale Insurance Company. The Policy included an endorsement entitled "Limitations of Coverage to Designated Premises". This Endorsement provided that, "This insurance does

judgment, Rule 54(b) requires it to take two separate steps before an appeal can be perfected. The court must make "an express determination that there is no reason for delay" and it must make "an express direction for the entry of judgment."

When the court is asked to direct the entry of judgment under Rule 54(b), it must consider whether the entire case as a whole and the particular disposition that has been made and for which the entry of a judgment is sought falls within the scope of the rules. The general requirements are that the case includes multiple claims, multiple parties, or both, and that either one or more but fewer than all the claims have been decided, or that all the rights and liabilities of at least one party have been adjudicated.

Rule 54(b) may be invoked only in a relatively select group of cases and applied to an even more limited category of decisions. The rule itself sets forth three basic conditions on its applicability. The first requirement is that either multiple claims for relief or multiple parties be involved. If there are multiple parties, there need only be one claim in the action. All of the rights or liabilities or one or more of the parties regarding that claim must have been fully adjudicated. A decision that leaves a portion of the claim pending as to all defendants does not fall within the ambit of Rule 54(b).

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

In the case at bar, D.J. Shuttle and Tours purchased a General Commercial Insurance Policy from Scottsdale Insurance Company. The Policy included an endorsement entitled "Limitations of Coverage to Designated Premises". This Endorsement provided that, "This insurance does

not apply....to 'bodily injury,'.... Occurring on any premises other than the designated premises listed above." For the Designated Premises, the endorsement states, "See Schedule of Locations." The Policy's Schedule of Locations, 101 Hardy Street, Hattiesburg, MS 39401 and 1601 Corrine Street, Hattiesburg, MS 39401.

The alleged liability in this action arose out of alleged negligence associated with D.J. Shuttle and Tours business, ownership, operation and use of the insured premises. There is a significant casual connection between the accident in this case, work performed during normal course of business on the insured premises, and D.J. Shuttle and Tour's business operations for the alleged accident to be covered by the Commercial policy, if D.J. Shuttle and Tours is found to be negligent in the servicing of the van owned by Enterprise Rent-A-Car. Therefore, Scottsdale had a duty to provide legal defense and indemnify if D.J. Shuttle and Tours was found to be negligent in its repairs to the van.

D.J. Shuttle and Tours contracted with Scottsdale for a Commercial General Liability Policy for its business, not a Premise Liability Policy. This Commercial General Liability Policy applies to "bodily injury," "property damage," "personal and advertising injury" that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages. Contrary to the Commercial General Liability Provisions, the Limitations of Coverage Endorsement contradicts the intended purpose of the policy. Consistent with commercial general liability coverage, the endorsement specifically covers "advertising injury," which is predicated on continuing general liability coverage. D.J. Shuttle and Tours contracted for a General Liability Commercial Policy to cover his vehicle repair shop.

The trial judge stated at the hearing on this matter, "If D.J. Shuttle was misled or misconstrued the policy, then, he should take it up with his agent." His agent was an employee of Scottsdale Insurance. Scottsdale has attempted to construe the terms of the policy in order to severely limit the scope of coverage to covered premise is flawed and constitutes willful attempts to deprive D.J. Shuttle and Tours of insurance coverage. There are genuine issues of material fact and different interpretations by Scottsdale and D.J. Shuttle about the applicability and coverage provided in the insurance policy Scottsdale sold to D.J. Shuttle and Tours that a jury or trier of fact should decide.

The Supreme Court of Mississippi has held "An injury of plaintiffs could not, as a matter of common sense, take place had it not been for the conduct in the county of origin." Flight Line, Inc. v. Tanksley, 608 So.2d 1149, 1156 (Miss. 1992). In Flight Line, the plaintiff was injured in Chicago while unloading equipment that was loaded into the airplane in Vicksburg, Mississippi. Id. In construing the words, the Supreme Court of Mississippi held that "Occur" is a less formalistic term than "Accrue." Id. at 1156.

The facts in the case at bar are similar because the automobile accident could not, as a matter of common sense, take place near Gadsden, Alabama, had it not been for the alleged prior negligent conduct of D.J. Shuttle and Tours premises covered under the policy issued by Scottsdale. Therefore, Scottsdale had a duty to defend and indemnify.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING FINAL JUDGMENT TO DISMISS CONTRARY TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF MISSISSIPPI UNIFORM CIRCUIT AND COUNTY COURT RULE 54(B).

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) is designed to facilitate the entry of judgments

Upon one or more but fewer than all the claims or as one or more but fewer than all the parties in an action involving more than one claim or party. It was proposed because of the potential scope and complexity of civil actions under these rules, given their extensive provisions for the liberal joinder of claims and parties. The basic purpose of Rule 54(b) is to avoid the possible injustice of a delay in entering judgment on a distinctly separate claim or as to fewer all of the parties until the final adjudication of the entire case by making an immediate appeal available.

The rule does not require that a judgment be entered when the court disposes of one or more claims or terminates the action as to one or more parties. Rather, it gives the court discretion to enter a final judgment in these circumstances and it provides much needed certainty in determining when a final and appealable judgment has been entered. If the court chooses to enter such a final order, it must do so in a definite, unmistakable manner.

Absent a certification under Rule 54 (b), any order in a multiple party or multiple claim action, even if it appears to adjudicate a separable portion of the controversy.

If the court decides that an order that does not dispose of all the claims of all the parties and that it is not appealable under any other statute or rule should be given the status of a final judgment, Rule 54(b) requires it to take two separate steps before an appeal can be perfected. The court must make "an express determination that there is no reason for delay" and it must make "an express direction for the entry of judgment."

When the court is asked to direct the entry of judgment under Rule 54(b), it must consider whether the entire case as a whole and the particular disposition that has been made and for which the entry of a judgment is sought falls within the scope of the rules. The general requirements are that the case include either multiple claims, multiple parties, or both, and that

either one or more but fewer than all the claims have been decided, or that all the rights and liabilities of at least one party have been decided, or that all the rights and liabilities of at least one party have been adjudicated.

Rule 54(b) may be invoked only in a relatively select group of cases and applied to an even more limited category of decisions. The rule itself sets forth three basic conditions on its applicability. The first requirement is that either multiple claims for relief or multiple parties be involved. If there are multiple parties, there need only be one claim in the action. All of the rights or liabilities or one or more of the parties regarding that claim must have been fully adjudicated. A decision that leaves a portion of the claim pending as to all defendants does not fall within the ambit of Rule 54(b).

Nearly a quarter of a century ago, in <u>Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Mackey</u>, 351 U.S. 427 (1956), Steps were outlined in making determinations under Rule 54(b). A Court must determine that it is dealing with a "final judgment". It must be a "judgment" in the sense that it is "an ultimate disposition of an individual claim entered in the course of a multiple claims action." 351 U.S. at 436.

Once having found finality, the court must go on to determine whether there is any just reason for delay. Not all final judgments on individual claims should be immediately appealable, even if they are in some sense separate from the remaining unresolved claims. The function of the court under the Rule is to act as a "dispatcher".

There are thus two aspects to the proper function of a reviewing court in Rule 54(b) cases. The court of appeals, must scrutinize the district court's evaluation of such factors as the

interrelationship of the claims so as to prevent piecemeal appeals in cases which should be reviewed as single units.

The Circuit Court failed to provide a written statement of reasons supporting its decision to certify the judgment as final. It failed to acknowledge that Rule 54(b) certification was not to be granted as a matter of course, and that this remedy should be reserved for the infrequent harsh cases. It failed to state whether, after balancing the competing factors, finality of judgment should be ordered to advance the interests of sound judicial administration and justice to the litigants.

The Circuit Court failed to identify the relevant factors in the case before it, which is needed in order to decide id certification would not result in unnecessary appellate review.

Whether the claims or counterclaims involved; whether review of adjudicated claims would not be mooted by any future developments in the case; and that the nature of the claims was such that no appellate court would have to decide the same issues more than once, even if there were subsequent appeals.

Turning to the consideration of justice to litigants, the Circuit Court failed to examine the presence of D.J. Shuttle's counterclaims and the possibility of a setoff recovery which are factors which weigh against certification.

In <u>Allis-Chalmers Corp. v. Philadelphia Electric Company</u>, 521 F.2d 360 (1975), the United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit held stated:

In the absence of unusual or harsh circumstances, we believe that the presence of a counterclaim, which could result in a set-off against any amounts due and owing to the Plaintiff, weighs heavily against the grant of 54(b) certification. Id. at 366.

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