IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2010-CA0063

D. J. SHUTTLE AND TOURS

APPELLANT

vs.

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY D/B/A SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF FORREST COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY

Oral Argument Not Requested

Scott Ellzey, MS Ba Michael Held, MS Bar PHELPS DUNBAR LLP NorthCourt One 2304 19th Street, Suite 300 Gulfport, Mississippi 39501 Telephone: 228-679-1130 Email: ellzeys@phelps.com heldm@phelps.com Attorneys for Appellee

Scottsdale Insurance Company

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

II. The Rule 54(b) Final Judgment Is Proper

The Circuit Court entered its Rule 54(b) Final Judgment as to Scottsdale.³⁶ The judgment provided that Scottsdale's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint was granted.³⁷ The judgment also provided that Scottsdale's Motion to Dismiss Crossclaim of D. J. Shuttle was granted.³⁸ The judgment also dismissed Scottsdale with prejudice.³⁹

⁵⁴ CP 1:111-123.

³⁵ CP 1:21; Appellant's Brief pp. 1, 3, and 8.

³⁶ CP 1:240-241; RE 2.

[&]quot;CP 1:240; RE 2.

^{°°} CP 1:241; RE 2.

³⁹ CP 1:241; RE 2.

Within the Final Judgment, the Court ruled that Scottsdale had, "no duty to defend or indemnify D. J. Shuttle and Tours for the claims asserted in this lawsuit." Further, the Court expressly stated that, "The Court further finds, pursuant to Rule 54(b), that there is no just reason for delay, and that final judgment of dismissal should be entered as to Scottsdale Insurance Company."

Plaintiffs and D. J. Shuttle asserted claims against Scottsdale, alleging that the Policy provided coverage for Plaintiffs' claims against D. J. Shuttle. The <u>only</u> issue involving Scottsdale is whether the Policy provided coverage. Once the Circuit Court ruled that Scottsdale had no duty to defend or indemnify D. J. Shuttle, there was absolutely no reason for Scottsdale to remain in the case. Failure to issue a final judgment as to Scottsdale under the circumstances, dismissing Scottsdale with prejudice, would impose a manifest injustice, and would be contrary to the law. The court cannot re-write the terms of the insurance contract to impose an obligation where none exists. The Policy does not provide coverage for this claim, and will never provide coverage for this claim, and the Court cannot impose an obligation to provide a defense to a claim that will never be covered.

Now, after filing its notice of appeal on the subject final judgment, D. J. Shuttle argues that the judgment should not have been deemed a final judgment under Rule 54(b). However, D. J. Shuttle has not and cannot provide any reasonable basis as to why the Rule 54(b) Final Judgment is improper and should be reversed. D. J. Shuttle's argument in this regard is merely an effort at misdirection, away from the plain and unambiguous terms of the Policy.

A Rule 54(b) judgment is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. Laird v. ERA Bayshore Realty, 841 So. 2d 178, 180-181 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting Cox v. Howard, Weil,

⁴⁰ CP 1:240; RE 2.

¹¹ CP 1:240; RE 2.

Labouisse, Friedrichs, Inc., 512 So. 2d 897, 899 (Miss.1987)). Here, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion and its Rule 54(b) judgment should be affirmed.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b) provides:

(b) Judgment Upon Multiple Claims or Involving Multiple Parties. When more than one claim for relief is presented in an action, whether as a claim, counterclaim, cross-claim, or third-party claim, or when multiple parties are involved, the court may direct the entry of a final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties only upon an expressed determination that there is no just reason for delay and upon an expressed direction for the entry of the judgment. In the absence of such determination and direction, any order or other form of decision, however designated which adjudicates fewer than all of the claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties shall not terminate the action as to any of the claims or parties and the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties.

Because there are multiple claims for relief and multiple parties involved in this case, the Circuit Court had authority to enter final judgment as to one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties. Here, the Circuit Court entered final judgment as to all claims against Scottsdale, leaving only the claim of negligence asserted by Plaintiffs against D. J. Shuttle. Rule 54(b) obviously allows for such a final judgment. Rule 54(b) requires that a final judgment can be entered: (1) only upon an expressed determination that there is no just reason for delay, and (2) upon express direction for the entry of the judgment. Here, the Circuit Court clearly and expressly stated, "pursuant to Rule 54(b), that there is no just reason for delay, and that final judgment of dismissal should be entered as to Scottsdale Insurance Company." The Circuit Court complied with all requisites of Rule 54(b). The final judgment is proper, and should be affirmed.

⁴² CP 1:240; RE 2.

The comments to Rule 54(b) provide further basis for affirming the Circuit Court's Rule 54(b) Final Judgment. Those comments provide in pertinent part:

The basic purpose of Rule 54(b) is to avoid the possible injustice of a delay in entering judgment on a distinctly separate claim or as to fewer than all of the parties until the final adjudication of the entire case by making an immediate appeal available.

The rule gives the court discretion to enter a final judgment in these circumstances and it provides much needed certainty in determining when a final and appealable judgment has been entered. If the court chooses to enter such a final order, it must do so in a definite, unmistakable manner.

.

The rule itself sets forth three basic conditions on its applicability. The first requirement is that either multiple claims for relief or multiple parties be involved.

. . .

The second prerequisite for invoking Rule 54(b) is that at least one claim or the rights and liabilities of at least one party must be finally decided.

. . .

The third prerequisite to the issuance of a Rule 54(b) certificate is that the court must find that there is no just reason for delaying an appeal.

The Circuit Court's Rule 54(b) Final Judgment complies with the basic purpose of Rule 54(b) in that it avoids the injustice of not finalizing the judgment as to the distinctly separate claims against Scottsdale. The coverage issue is on appeal before this Court now. There is no reason this Court should not hear the coverage issue and affirm the Rule 54(b) Final Judgment, allowing Scottsdale to have finality with regard to this matter.

The Rule 54(b) Final Judgment in this case obviously provided D. J. Shuttle with the certainty needed to determine whether the judgment was final and appealable because D. J.

Shuttle filed a Notice of Appeal and brought this appeal before this Court. Therefore, there can be no issue as to whether the Rule 54(b) Final Judgment was entered in a definite and unmistakable manner.

Finally, the Rule 54(b) Final Judgment meets all three requirements outlined in the comments. First, the Circuit Court matter involved both multiple parties and multiple claims. 44
Second, all claims as to Scottsdale have been finally decided. 45 Third, the Court found and expressly stated that there was no just reason for delay. 46

The issue is whether or not there is coverage for the claim. The Circuit Court ruled that there was no coverage for this claim. ⁴⁷ D. J. Shuttle has appealed that ruling – i.e. whether the Policy provides coverage for this claim. That is the issue that is before the Court now. D. J. Shuttle's entire argument about Rule 54(b) is a red herring.

This Court has held that when claims against two different defendants are on different theories and unrelated, and one of the defendants is granted dismissal, then there is no reason for the dismissed defendant to be kept in the case. *Indiana Lumbermen's Mut. Ins. Co. v. Curtis Mathes Mfg. Co.*, 456 So. 2d 750, 753 (Miss. 1984). In *Indiana Lumbermen's*, there were claims of negligence asserted against a repairman for failure to use reasonable care in repairing a television set. *Id.* The negligence claims against the manufacturer consisted of negligence in design, manufacture and testing, failure to warn, and breach of warranty. *Id.* This Court noted that the claims of negligence against the two defendants were on different theories and were unrelated. *Id.* This Court held that after the trial judge granted the repairman's motion for

⁴³ CP 1:242-244.

⁴⁴ CP 1:18-29; RE 6.

⁴⁵ CP 1:240-241; RE 2.

⁴⁶ CP 1:240-241; RE 2.

⁴⁷ CP 1:240-241; RE 2.

judgment upon the pleadings, there was no reason for the repairman to be kept in case. *Id.* This Court affirmed that the trial judge correctly entered final judgment for the repairman and certified the case as authorized by Rule 54(b). *Id.*

Similarly, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that entry of final judgment in favor of a home health care association was appropriate in a health care services provider's action against the home health care association and its members for tortious interference with business relations because there was no evidence that the association had any involvement in the member's allegedly malicious dissemination of information. *Mid-Delta Home Health, Inc. v. Mississippi Ass'n for Home Care*, 822 So. 2d 336, 342 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The issues presented on appeal were different from those ultimately to be litigated at the trial court and there was no just reason for the delay of entry of final judgment in favor of the association. *Id.*

Here, the claim against Scottsdale concerns the construction of the Policy for the purpose of determining whether the Policy provides liability coverage for this matter. The question of whether the terms of the Policy provide insurance coverage are separate and distinct from the question of whether D. J. Shuttle is liable to Plaintiffs for its alleged negligence. The Policy speaks for itself, and the Circuit Court properly entered its Rule 54(b) Final Judgment in favor of Scottsdale, just the same as other Mississippi courts have done.

In Olin Corp. v. Insurance Co. of North America, 771 F. Supp. 76, 80 (S.D. N.Y. 1991), the court ruled that where a policy does not provide coverage, final judgment in favor of the liability insurer is proper. There, the court noted that any delay in the entry of final judgment would merely impose litigation expenses and costs for no purpose. Id. See also Resource Bankshares Corp. v. St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co., 323 F. Supp. 2d 709, 723 (E.D. Va. 2004), rev'd on other grounds, 407 F.3d 631 (4th Cir. 2005); State of N.Y. v. Amro Realty Corp., 745 F. Supp. 832, 840 (N.D.Y.Y. 1990), aff'd, 936 F.2d 1420 (2d Cir. 1991).

In Symington v. Walle Mut. Ins. Co., an insured sued his agent and his insurer regarding coverage under a farm property policy. 563 N.W.2d 400, 401 (N.D. 1997). The insured alleged the insurer's farm policy provided coverage for a loss and, alternatively, if the policy did not provide coverage, the agent had negligently failed to procure coverage and had misrepresented that coverage had been provided. Id. The trial court ruled in favor of the insurer, concluding the policy did not provide coverage for the insured's loss, and entered a Rule 54(b) final judgment. Id. On appeal, the North Dakota Supreme Court held that the remaining claims against the agent, although contingent upon a determination that the insurer's policy did not provide coverage to the insured, were separate and distinct from the issue of coverage. Id. at 402. The court noted that the insured's claims against the agent alleged negligent failure to procure coverage and misrepresentation that coverage had been provided and no matter how those remaining contingent claims against the agent were decided, the coverage issues raised in the appeal would always need to be resolved and would never be mooted by future developments in the trial court. Id. Ultimately, the North Dakota Supreme Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting Rule 54(b) certification. *Id.* at 402-403.

In the present matter, of course, D. J. Shuttle did not assert a claim against its insurance agent in this lawsuit – but the point of the matter is that it would not change things if it had. The Policy does not provide coverage for the claim, and the Circuit Court's entry of a Rule 54(b) Final Judgment in favor of Scottsdale is proper. D. J. Shuttle has appealed the Circuit Court's ruling – which simply makes its entire argument about whether the ruling is appealable inapposite to the issue that is before the Court. The question is whether there is insurance coverage for this claim. The question is not whether the Circuit Court's ruling is appealable. D. J. Shuttle has appealed the ruling. D. J. Shuttle's argument concerning Rule 54(b) is merely an

effort to impose unnecessary expenses and costs on Scottsdale for no legitimate purpose, and in spite of the fact that the Policy clearly does not provide coverage for the claim.

- D. J. Shuttle cites a Third Circuit Court of Appeals case for the proposition that when counterclaims and set-off issues are involved in a lawsuit, Rule 54(b) certification is improper. There is no such parallel situation here. There simply are no counterclaims or set-off issues involved in this matter.
- D. J. Shuttle argues that there might be piecemeal litigation and multiple appeals of the same issue, but that is simply not the case. The only claim against Scottsdale is premised on the question of whether the Policy provides coverage for this claim. It does not, and that is the end of the matter. There can be no threat of piecemeal litigation or multiple appeals because once the coverage issue is finally resolved there can be no further appeal of that issue. Further, the insurance coverage issues raised in this appeal can never be mooted by future developments in the trial court. The Policy simply does not and cannot provide coverage for the Plaintiffs' claim against D. J. Shuttle.

There is no just reason for delaying final judgment as to Scottsdale, and to do so would impose a manifest injustice. The coverage issues raised in this appeal will always need to be resolved and can never be mooted by future developments in the trial court. A final determination as to coverage will also likely have an impact on the remaining claims because it will give finality to the assets available for recovery by the Plaintiffs. Scottsdale is entitled to final judgment under the circumstances and the Circuit Court's Rule 54(b) Final Judgment should be affirmed.

III. The Insurance Procurement Issues Raised By D. J. Shuttle Are Not Valid Bases For Appeal

In Appellant's Brief, it asserts that there are genuine issues of fact pertaining to the procurement of coverage by the retail insurance agent. There are no such claims asserted in the Second Amended Complaint, and those issues are not a part of this litigation nor are those issues properly before this Court on appeal. Any such argument must be disregarded as irrelevant. Moreover, as noted above, even if a claim for failure to procure proper insurance coverage had been asserted – as a matter of law, it still would not change the fact that the Policy does not provide coverage for this claim. Scottsdale must be dismissed with prejudice, now, and not be forced to expend resources and incur expenses remaining a part of a lawsuit which asserts no valid claim for recovery against it. The Policy does not provide coverage and will never provide coverage for this matter, and that is the end of it as to Scottsdale. The Circuit Court's Rule 54(b) Final Judgment must be affirmed.

IV. Plaintiffs Did Not Appeal The Circuit Court's Grant Of Scottsdale's Motion To Dismiss Their Second Amended Complaint

Plaintiffs filed a claim against Scottsdale in their Second Amended Complaint seeking a declaratory judgment that the Policy provided coverage to D. J. Shuttle.⁵⁰ In response, Scottsdale filed its Motion to Dismiss.⁵¹ Thereafter, D. J. Shuttle filed its Crossclaim (which was improperly titled a "Counter Complaint") against Scottsdale seeking coverage.⁵² In response, Scottsdale filed a Motion to Dismiss the Crossclaim.⁵³ The Circuit Court granted both of

Appellant's Brief, p. 8.

CP 1:18-29; RE 6.

⁵⁰ CP 1:18-29; RE 6.

⁵¹ CP 1:38-104.

CP 1:111-123

⁵³ CP 1:132-207.

Scottsdale's Motions to Dismiss.⁵⁴ Only D. J. Shuttle has appealed.⁵⁵ Plaintiffs did not appeal the Rule 54(b) Final Judgment against them, which provided that there was no coverage available under the Policy. Plaintiffs' time for appeal has expired and the judgment, as to them, is final. D. J. Shuttle cannot appeal the final judgment entered against Plaintiffs.

The Rule 54(b) Final Judgment denying Plaintiffs' request for declaratory judgment regarding coverage is the law of the case. The Circuit Court's ruling should not be disturbed on appeal.

CONCLUSION

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